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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

 
Item 1. Financial Statements

NOVAVAX, INC.
BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share information)
 

  June 30,   December 31, 
  2013   2012  
  (unaudited)     

ASSETS  
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,574  $ 17,399 
Short-term investments available-for-sale   38,025   26,712 
Restricted cash   —   986 
Accounts receivables   907   1,011 
Unbilled receivables   1,815   1,570 
Prepaid expenses   2,024   2,559 
Other current assets   20   171 
Total current assets   45,365   50,408 

Investments available-for-sale   —   6,233 
Property and equipment, net   13,320   11,456 
Goodwill   33,141   33,141 
Restricted cash   757   756 
Other non-current assets   335   351 

Total assets  $ 92,918  $ 102,345 

         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  

Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable  $ 2,946  $ 3,228 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   7,223   7,275 
Deferred revenue   —   258 
Current portion of capital lease   60   58 
Current portion of notes payable   571   157 
Warrant liability   —   267 
Deferred rent   456   432 

Total current liabilities   11,256   11,675 
Deferred revenue   2,500   2,500 
Non-current portion of capital lease   206   237 
Non-current portion of notes payable   1,653   753 
Deferred rent   8,077   6,940 

Total liabilities   23,692   22,105 
         

Commitments and contingences   —   — 
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 2,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and
outstanding   —   — 

Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2013 and
200,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2012; and 153,165,006 shares issued and
152,709,576 shares outstanding at June 30, 2013 and 148,398,747 shares issued and
147,943,317 shares outstanding at December 31, 2012   1,532   1,484 

Additional paid-in capital   450,300   438,939 
Accumulated deficit   (380,793)   (358,163)
Treasury stock, 455,430 shares, cost basis   (2,450)   (2,450)
Accumulated other comprehensive income   637   430 

Total stockholders’ equity   69,226   80,240 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 92,918  $ 102,345 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOVAVAX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share information)

(unaudited)
 

  
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,   
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2013   2012   2013   2012  
             
Revenue:                 

Government contracts  $ 3,276  $ 7,103  $ 6,717  $ 11,745 
Research and development collaborations   255   ―   648   ― 

Total revenue   3,531   7,103   7,365   11,745 
                 
Costs and expenses:                 

Cost of government contracts revenue   1,632   5,118   3,344   8,903 
Research and development   10,785   5,371   20,041   10,627 
General and administrative   4,012   2,469   6,882   5,537 

Total costs and expenses   16,429   12,958   30,267   25,067 
Loss from operations   (12,898)   (5,855)   (22,902)   (13,322)
Other income (expense):                 

Interest income   48   39   95   72 
Interest expense   (45)   (3)   (68)   (6)
Change in fair value of warrant liability   267   (101)   267   ― 

Loss from operations before income tax   (12,628)   (5,920)   (22,608)   (13,256)
Income tax expense   5   ―   22   ― 
Net loss  $ (12,633)  $ (5,920)  $ (22,630)  $ (13,256)

                 
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.08)  $ (0.05)  $ (0.15)  $ (0.11)

                 
Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares

outstanding   152,312   126,925   150,391   123,741 

 
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
(unaudited)

 

  
For the Three Months

Ended June 30,   
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2013   2012   2013   2012  
             
Comprehensive loss:                 
Net loss  $ (12,633)  $ (5,920)  $ (22,630)  $ (13,256)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments available-for-sale   168   (36)   207   108 
Comprehensive loss  $ (12,465)  $ (5,956)  $ (22,423)  $ (13,148)

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOVAVAX, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

(unaudited)
 

  
For the Six Months

Ended June 30,  
  2013   2012  
Operating Activities:         

Net loss  $ (22,630)  $ (13,256)
Reconciliation of net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Change in fair value of warrant liability   (267)   — 
Depreciation and amortization   961   810 
Amortization of net premiums on investments   232   — 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment   (43)   (19)
Deferred rent   458   251 
Non-cash stock-based compensation   1,121   1,176 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Restricted cash   986   — 
Accounts receivables   104   467 
Unbilled receivables   (245)   (2,395)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   702   58 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses   (40)   461 
Deferred revenue   (258)   — 
Lease incentives received   703   2,101 

Net cash used in operating activities   (18,216)   (10,346)
         
Investing Activities:         

Capital expenditures   (3,157)   (1,076)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment   81   167 
Proceeds from maturities of investments   9,649   2,500 
Purchases of investments   (14,754)   (9,389)
Net cash used in investing activities   (8,181)   (7,798)

         
Financing Activities:         

Principal payments of capital lease   (29)   — 
Principal payments of notes payable   (136)   (20)
Proceeds from notes payable   1,450   100 
Restricted cash   (1)   (755)
Net proceeds from sales of common stock, net of offering costs of $0.3 million and $0.3 million,

respectively   10,018   20,023 
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options   270   26 
Net cash provided by financing activities   11,572   19,374 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (14,825)   1,230 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   17,399   14,104 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 2,574  $ 15,334 

         
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:         

Property and equipment purchases included in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ 1,026  $ 278 

Deposit applied towards the purchase of laboratory equipment  $ —  $ 500 

         
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:         

Cash payments of interest  $ 61  $ — 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOVAVAX, INC.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2013
(unaudited)

 
Note 1 – Organization
 

Novavax, Inc. (the “Company”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing recombinant protein
nanoparticle vaccines to address a broad range of infectious diseases. The Company’s technology platform is based on proprietary
recombinant vaccine technology that includes virus-like particles (“VLPs”) and recombinant protein micelle vaccines combined with a
single-use bioprocessing production system. These vaccine candidates are genetically engineered three-dimensional nanostructures
that incorporate immunologically important recombinant proteins. The Company’s product pipeline targets a variety of infectious
diseases with vaccine candidates currently in mid-stage clinical development for seasonal influenza, pandemic influenza and
respiratory syncytial virus (“RSV”).

 
Note 2 – Operations
 

The Company’s vaccine candidates currently under development will require significant additional research and development
efforts that include extensive pre-clinical and clinical testing, and regulatory approval prior to commercial use. The Company’s
research and development efforts may not be successful and any potential vaccine candidates may not prove to be safe and effective
during clinical development. Even if developed, these vaccine candidates may not receive regulatory approval or be successfully
introduced and marketed at prices that would permit the Company to operate profitably. The commercial launch of any vaccine is
subject to significant risks including, but not limited to, manufacturing scale-up and market acceptance.

 
As a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company, the Company has primarily funded its operations from proceeds through the

sale of its common stock in equity offerings and under its At Market Issuance Sales Agreements and revenue under its contract with
the Department of Health and Human Services, Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (“HHS BARDA”).
Management regularly reviews the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and investments against its operating budget to ensure the
Company will have sufficient working capital, and will continue to draw upon such available sources of capital to meet its operating
needs.

 
Note 3 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article
10 of Regulation S-X. The balance sheet as of June 30, 2013, statements of operations and statements of comprehensive loss for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 and the statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and
2012 are unaudited, but include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) that the Company considers necessary
for a fair presentation of the financial position, operating results, comprehensive loss and cash flows, respectively, for the periods
presented. Although the Company believes that the disclosures in these financial statements are adequate to make the information
presented not misleading, certain information and footnote information normally included in financial statements prepared in
accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
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Results for any interim period are not necessarily indicative of results for any future interim period or for the entire year. The

accompanying unaudited financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included
in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.

 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
materially from these estimates.

 
Fair Value Measurements
 

The Company applies Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, for
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

 
ASC 820 discusses valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market prices), the income approach

(present value of future income or cash flow) and the cost approach (cost to replace the service capacity of an asset or replacement
cost). The statement utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into
three broad levels. The following is a brief description of those three levels:
 

· Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
· Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include

quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in
markets that are not active.

· Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions.
 

Investments
 

Investments consist of commercial paper, corporate notes and an investment in one auction rate security. Classification of
marketable securities between current and non-current is dependent upon the original maturity date at purchase. Those securities
purchased with original maturities greater than 90 days, but less than one year are classified as current and those with greater than
one year are classified as non-current.

 
Interest and dividend income is recorded when earned and included in interest income. Premiums and discounts, if any, on

investments are amortized or accreted to maturity and included in interest income. The specific identification method is used in
computing realized gains and losses on the sale of the Company’s securities.

 
The Company has classified its investments as available-for-sale since the Company may need to liquidate these securities

within the next year. The available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value and unrealized gains and losses on these securities, if
determined to be temporary, are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Investments
are evaluated periodically to determine whether a decline in value is “other-than-temporary.” The term “other-than-temporary” is not
intended to indicate a permanent decline in value. Rather, it means that the prospects for a near term recovery of value are not
necessarily favorable, or that there is a lack of evidence to support fair values equal to, or greater than, the carrying value of the
security. Management reviews criteria, such as the magnitude and duration of the decline, as well as the Company’s ability to hold
the securities until market recovery, to predict whether the loss in value is other-than-temporary. If a decline in value is determined to
be other-than-temporary, the value of the security is reduced and the impairment is recorded in the statement of operations.
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Restricted Cash
 

The Company’s restricted cash includes payments received under the PATH agreement (See Note 8) until such time as the
Company has paid for the work performed for the related Phase 2 RSV clinical trial. In addition, the Company’s non-current restricted
cash with respect to its new manufacturing, laboratory and office space in Gaithersburg, Maryland functions as collateral for letters of
credit, which serve as security deposits for the duration of the leases.

 
Net Loss per Share

 
Net loss per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding. All outstanding

warrants, stock options and unvested restricted stock awards totaling 15,832,208 shares and 13,110,708 shares at June 30, 2013 and
2012, respectively, are excluded from the computation, as their effect is antidilutive.

 
Reclassifications

 
Within the June 30, 2012 statement of operations, certain overhead expenses relating to supply chain management of $0.4

million have been reclassified from general and administrative expenses to research and development expenses. Also, within the
June 30, 2012 statement of cash flows, additional lease incentives received of $1.1 million recorded in the change in accounts
payable and accrued expenses have been reclassified and are included in the change in lease incentives received. All of these
reclassifications have been made to conform to current year presentation. In its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended
March 31, 2013, the Company had recorded $0.2 million and reclassified $0.1 million of patent costs from general and administrative
expenses to research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company
subsequently determined that patent costs should remain as a general and administrative expense and these costs have been shown
as a general and administrative expense for all periods presented herein.
 
Note 4 – Fair Value Measurements
 

The following table represents the Company’s fair value hierarchy for its financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
on a recurring basis (in thousands):

 
  Fair Value at June 30, 2013   Fair Value at December 31, 2012  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3  
Assets                         
Corporate debt securities and auction

rate securities  $ —  $ 38,025  $ —  $ —  $ 32,945  $ — 
Total investments  $ —  $ 38,025  $ —  $ —  $ 32,945  $ — 

Liabilities                         
Warrant liabilities  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 267 

 
During the six months ended June 30, 2013, the Company did not have any transfers between levels.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balance of Level 3 assets and liabilities measured

on a recurring basis for the six months ended June 30, 2013 (in thousands):
 

  

Fair Value Measurements of
Warrants Using Significant

Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)  

Balance at December 31, 2012  $ 267 
Change in fair value of Warrant liability   (267)
Balance at June 30, 2013  $ — 

 
The amounts in the Company’s balance sheet for accounts receivables, unbilled receivables and accounts payable

approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. Based on borrowing rates available to the Company, the fair value of capital
lease and notes payable approximates their carrying value.
 
Note 5 – Investments
 

Investments classified as available-for-sale as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 were comprised of (in thousands):
 

  June 30, 2013   December 31, 2012  

  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value   
Amortized

Cost   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains   

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses   Fair Value  
Auction rate
securities  $ 1,175  $ 635  $ —  $ 1,810  $ 1,175  $ 409  $ —  $ 1,584 
Corporate
debt
securities   36,213   2   —   36,215   31,340   21   —   31,361 
Total  $ 37,388  $ 637  $ —  $ 38,025  $ 32,515  $ 430  $ —  $ 32,945 

 
Note 6 – Stockholders’ Equity
 

On June 13, 2013, the Company’s stockholders of record as of April 16, 2013 approved to amend the Company’s certificate of
incorporation to increase the total number of share of Common Stock that the Company is authorized to issue from 200,000,000
shares to 300,000,000 shares.
 
Note 7 – Stock-Based Compensation
 

Stock Options
 

The Company has granted equity awards under several plans. Under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2005 Plan”), equity
awards may be granted to officers, directors, employees, consultants and advisors to the Company and any present or future
subsidiary. The 2005 Plan, approved in May 2005 and amended in June 2007, June 2011, June 2012 and June 2013 by the
Company’s stockholders, currently authorizes the grant of equity awards for up to 22,312,192 shares of common stock, which
included, at the time of approval of the 2005 Plan, a maximum 5,746,468 shares of common stock subject to stock options
outstanding under the Company’s 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan”) that may revert to and become issuable under the 2005
Plan if such options should expire or otherwise terminate unexercised. The Company received approval at its 2013 annual meeting of
stockholders to increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2005 Plan by 4,000,000 shares. The
term of the Company’s 1995 Plan has expired. Outstanding stock options remain in existence in accordance with their terms and no
new awards will be made under the 1995 Plan.

 
Under the 2005 Plan and the 1995 Plan, incentive stock options, having a maximum term of 10 years, can be or were granted

at no less than 100% of the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the time of grant and are generally exercisable over periods
ranging from six months to four years. There is no minimum exercise price for non-statutory stock options.
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Stock Options Awards

 
The following is a summary of option activity under the 2005 Plan and the 1995 Plan for the six months ended June 30, 2013:
 

  2005 Stock Incentive Plan   1995 Stock Option Plan  

  
Stock 

Options   

Weighted-
Average 
Exercise 

Price   
Stock 

Options   

Weighted-
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
Outstanding at January 1, 2013   9,143,825  $ 1.87   211,900  $ 4.94 
Granted   4,007,500  $ 1.89   —  $ — 
Exercised   (133,917)  $ 2.02   —  $ — 
Canceled   (750,008)  $ 1.72   (23,750)  $ 4.05 
Outstanding at June 30, 2013   12,267,400  $ 1.88   188,150  $ 5.04 

Shares exercisable at June 30, 2013   4,662,956  $ 2.17   188,150  $ 5.04 

                 
Shares available for grant at June 30, 2013   2,518,619             

 
The fair value of stock options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with

the following assumptions:
 

  
Three Months Ended 

June 30,  
Six Months Ended 

June 30,
  2013  2012  2013  2012
Weighted-average fair value of stock options
granted  $1.01  $0.71  $1.00  $0.71
Risk-free interest rate  0.54%-0.96%  0.59%  0.54%-1.34%  0.59%-1.54%
Dividend yield  0%  0%  0%  0%
Volatility  55.81%-66.02%  75.47%-75.52%  55.81%-73.72%  75.47%-80.48%
Expected term (in years)  3.98-4.25  4.24  3.98-7.05  3.34-7.09
Expected forfeiture rate  0%-23.15%  0%-23.15%  0%-23.15%  0%-23.15%

 
The aggregate intrinsic value and weighted-average remaining contractual term of stock options outstanding as of June 30,

2013 was approximately $4.3 million and 7.6 years, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value and weighted-average remaining
contractual term of stock options exercisable as of June 30, 2013 was approximately $1.5 million and 5.6 years, respectively. The
aggregate intrinsic value represents the total intrinsic value (the difference between the Company’s closing stock price on the last
trading day of the period and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been received by
the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on June 30, 2013. This amount is subject to change based on
changes to the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised for the six months
ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 was less than $0.1 million.

 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

 
The Company received approval at its 2013 annual meeting of stockholders to adopt an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the

“ESPP”), which currently authorizes an aggregate of 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock to be purchased. The ESPP allows
employees to purchase shares of Common Stock of the Company at each purchase date through payroll deductions of up to a
maximum of 15% of their compensation, at 85% of the lesser of the market price of the shares at the time of purchase or the market
price on the beginning date of an option period (or, if later, the date during the option when the employee was first eligible to
participate). The first option period under the ESPP commenced August 1, 2013.
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Restricted Stock Awards

 
Under the 2005 Plan, the Company has granted restricted stock awards subject to certain performance-based and time-

based vesting conditions which, if not met, would result in forfeiture of the shares and reversal of any previously recognized related
stock-based compensation expense.

 
The following is a summary of restricted stock awards activity for the six months ended June 30, 2013:
 

  
Number of

Shares   

Per Share
Weighted-
Average

Grant-Date
Fair Value  

Outstanding at January 1, 2013   33,334  $ 1.39 
Restricted stock granted   —  $ — 
Restricted stock vested   —  $ — 
Restricted stock forfeited   —  $ — 
Outstanding at June 30, 2013   33,334  $ 1.39 

 
The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense in the statements of operations as follows (in thousands):

 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,   
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   2013   2012  
Research and development  $ 296  $ 236  $ 513  $ 419 
General and administrative   342   353   608   757 
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 638  $ 589  $ 1,121  $ 1,176 

 
As of June 30, 2013, there was approximately $4.9 million of total unrecognized compensation expense (net of estimated

forfeitures) related to unvested options and restricted stock awards. This unrecognized compensation expense is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 years. This estimate does not include the impact of other possible stock-based
awards that may be made during future periods.
 
Note 8 – U.S. Government Agreement, Joint Venture and Collaborations

 
HHS BARDA Contract for Recombinant Influenza Vaccines

 
In February 2011, the Company was awarded a contract from HHS BARDA valued at $97 million for the first three-year base-

period, with an HHS BARDA option for an additional two-year period valued at $82 million, for a total contract value of up to $179
million. The HHS BARDA contract award provides significant funding for the Company’s ongoing clinical development and product
scale-up of both its seasonal and pandemic (H5N1) influenza vaccine candidates. This is a cost-plus-fixed-fee contract in which HHS
BARDA will reimburse the Company for allowable direct contract costs incurred plus allowable indirect costs and a fixed-fee earned in
the further development of its multivalent seasonal and monovalent pandemic (H5N1) influenza vaccines. Billings under the contract
are based on approved provisional indirect billing rates, which permit recovery of fringe benefits, overhead and general and
administrative expenses not exceeding certain limits. These indirect rates are subject to audit by HHS BARDA on an annual basis.
An audit by the government of fiscal year 2011 has been initiated, but has not been completed as of the date of this filing. When the
final determination of the allowable costs for any year has been made, revenue and billings may be adjusted accordingly; however,
management believes that revenue for periods subject to audit has been recorded in amounts that are expected to be realized upon
final audit and settlement. The Company recognized revenue of approximately $6.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2013,
and has recognized approximately $41 million in revenue since the inception of the contract.
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Under certain circumstances, HHS BARDA reimbursements may be delayed or even potentially withheld. In March 2012, the

Company decided to conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial of its quadrivalent seasonal influenza vaccine candidate (“205 Trial”) under its
existing U.S. investigational new drug application (“IND”) for its trivalent seasonal influenza vaccine candidate as opposed to waiting
to conduct this clinical trial under a new IND for its quadrivalent vaccine candidate (“Quadrivalent IND”). Based on the Company’s
discussions with HHS BARDA in 2012, the outside clinical trial costs for the 205 Trial may only be submitted for reimbursement to
HHS BARDA and recorded as revenue by the Company after it submits the clinical trial data in a future Quadrivalent IND. The
submission of the Quadrivalent IND is expected shortly before the Company initiates the next Phase 2 dose-confirmatory clinical trial,
which has been delayed due to the development activity associated with improving the seroconversion rate of one of the four strains.
The outside clinical trial costs of the 205 Trial conducted last year total $2.9 million, which was incurred from the inception of the
clinical trial through June 30, 2013. These costs have been recorded as an expense and are included in cost of government contracts
revenue.

 
CPL Biologicals Private Limited (“CPLB”) Joint Venture

 
In 2009, the Company formed a joint venture with Cadila Pharmaceuticals Limited (“Cadila”) named CPL Biologicals Private

Limited (the “CPLB”) to develop and manufacture vaccines, biological therapeutics and diagnostics in India. CPLB is owned 20% by
the Company and 80% by Cadila. The Company accounts for its investment in CPLB using the equity method. Since the carrying
value of the Company’s initial investment was nominal and there is no guarantee or commitment to provide future funding, the
Company has not recorded any losses related to this investment.

 
LG Life Sciences, Ltd. (“LGLS”) License Agreement

 
In February 2011, the Company entered into a license agreement with LGLS that allows LGLS to use the Company’s

technology to develop and commercially sell influenza vaccines exclusively in South Korea and non-exclusively in certain other
specified countries. At its own cost, LGLS is responsible for funding both its clinical development of the influenza VLP vaccines and a
manufacturing facility to produce such vaccine in South Korea. Under the license agreement, the Company is obligated to provide
LGLS with information and materials related to the manufacture of the licensed products, provide on-going project management and
regulatory support and conduct clinical trials of its influenza vaccines in order to obtain FDA approval in the U.S. The term of the
license agreement is expected to terminate in 2027. Payments to the Company under the license agreement include an upfront
payment of $2.5 million, reimbursements of certain development and product costs, payments related to the achievement of certain
milestones and royalty payments in the high single digits from LGLS’s future commercial sales of influenza VLP vaccines. The upfront
payment has been deferred and will be recognized when the previously mentioned obligations in the agreement are satisfied, which
may not occur until the end of the term of the agreement. Payments for milestones under the agreement will be recognized on a
straight-line basis over the remaining term of the research and development period upon achievement of such milestone. Any
royalties under the agreement will be recognized as earned.

 
PATH Vaccine Solutions (“PATH”) Clinical Development Agreement

 
In July 2012, the Company entered into a clinical development agreement with PATH to develop its vaccine candidate to

protect against RSV through maternal immunization in low-resource countries (the “RSV Collaboration Program”). The Company was
awarded approximately $2.0 million by PATH for initial funding under the agreement to partially support its Phase 2 dose-ranging
clinical trial in women of childbearing age, which was launched in October 2012. In August 2013, the funding under the agreement
was increased by $0.3 million and the term extended to April 2014 to support the Company’s reproductive toxicology studies, which
are necessary before it conducts clinical trials in pregnant women. The Company retains global rights to commercialize the product
and has made a commitment to make the vaccine affordable and available in low-resource countries. To the extent PATH has
elected to continue to fund 50% of the Company’s external clinical development costs for the RSV Collaboration Program, but the
Company does not continue development, the Company would then grant PATH a fully-paid license to its RSV vaccine technology for
use in pregnant women in such low-resource countries. The Company recognized revenue of approximately $0.6 million in the six
months ended June 30, 2013, and has recognized approximately $1.9 million in revenue since the inception of the contract. Revenue
under this arrangement is being recognized under the proportional performance method and earned in proportion to the contract
costs incurred in performance of the work as compared to total estimated contract costs. Costs incurred under this agreement
represent a reasonable measurement of proportional performance of the services being performed.
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Note 9 – Notes Payable

 
In September 2012, the Company entered into a master security agreement with General Electric Capital Corporation (“GE”),

whereby the Company can borrow up to $2.0 million to finance the purchases of equipment through June 2013 (“Equipment Loan”).
Each Equipment Loan bears interest at the three-year U.S. Government treasury rate plus 11.68%, provided that the rate shall not be
less than 12.1%, and is to be repaid over forty-two (42) months. GE will maintain a security interest in all equipment financed under
the Equipment Loan. During the six months ended June 30, 2013, the Company financed $1.5 million in total at interest rates of
12.1% with monthly principal payments totaling $34,529 (“2013 Funding”). Interest accrues on the outstanding balance until paid in
full. As of June 30, 2013, the Company has financed $2.0 million in total under the Equipment Loan.

 
Aggregate future minimum principal payments on the Equipment Loan, including the 2013 Funding, at June 30, 2013 are as

follows (in thousands):
 

Year  Amount  
2013 (remainder)  $ 286 
2014   571 
2015   571 
2016   396 
  $ 1,824 

 
Note 10 – Warrant Liability
 

In July 2008, the Company completed a registered direct offering of 6,686,650 units, raising approximately $17.5 million in
net proceeds. Each unit consisted of one share of common stock and a warrant to purchase 0.5 shares of common stock (the
“Warrants”) at a price of $2.68 per unit. The Warrants represent the right to acquire an aggregate of 3,343,325 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $3.62 per share and were exercisable between January 31, 2009 and July 31, 2013.

 
During the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded as other income (expense) in its statements

of operations a change in fair value of warrant liability of $0.3 million and $0 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2013, the warrant
liability recorded on the balance sheet was $0 million. All Warrants expired unexercised on July 31, 2013.
 
Note 11 – Sales of Common Stock

 
In October 2012, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (“2012 Sales Agreement”), under which

the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) approved the Company’s sale of up to an aggregate of $50 million in gross
proceeds of its common stock. The shares of common stock are being offered pursuant to a shelf registration statement filed with the
SEC in March 2013, which replaced the previous shelf registration statement filed in 2010. The Board has appointed a standing
Finance Committee (the “Committee”) to assist with its responsibilities to monitor, provide advice to senior management of the
Company and approve all capital raising activities. The Committee has been authorized by the Board, absent any action by the Board
to the contrary, to take any additional actions necessary to carry out the Board’s authorization of the issuance and sale of the
common stock sold pursuant to the 2012 Sales Agreement. In doing so, the Committee is authorized to set the amount of shares to be
sold, the period of time during which such sales may occur and the minimum sales price per share. During the six months ended
June 30, 2013, the Company sold 4.6 million shares at sales prices ranging from of $2.06 ─ $2.63 per share, resulting in $10.0 million
in net proceeds. The most recent sales to occur under the 2012 Sales Agreement were on May 6, 2013.
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Note 12 – Manufacturing, Laboratory and Office Facility

 
The Company leases its new manufacturing, laboratory and office space in Gaithersburg, Maryland with rent payments for

such space to the landlord commencing April 1, 2014. Under the terms of one lease agreement, the landlord provided the Company
with a tenant improvement allowance of $2.5 million and an additional tenant improvement allowance of $3 million, such additional
tenant improvement allowance is to be paid back to the landlord during the remainder of the term of such lease agreement through
additional rent payments (collectively, the “Improvement Allowance”). The Company has been funded $0.7 million in the six months
ended June 30, 2013, and has been funded $5.0 million in total under the Improvement Allowance. The Improvement Allowance is
being amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining term of the lease.
 
Note 13 – Acquisition of Isconova AB
 

On July 31, 2013, the Company announced that, pursuant to its public tender offer to acquire all outstanding shares and
warrants of Sweden-based Isconova AB (“Isconova”) directly from such holders and a private offer for all outstanding stock options, it
had acquired: 97.4% of the outstanding Isconova shares for approximately 15.1 million shares of Novavax Common Stock; 100% of
the outstanding 2005-I warrants and 2005-II warrants for SEK 140,285 (or approximately $22,000 based on current exchange rate);
and 100% of the stock options, for which it will issue 218,120 shares of Novavax Common Stock. The Company initiated the public
tender offer on July 9, 2013 and expects to settle these transactions in August 2013. In addition, the Company has extended the
tender acceptance period until August 20, 2013 in order to attempt to acquire the remaining 2.6% of the outstanding Isconova shares.

 
Isconova has focused its recent efforts on the development of saponin-based, immune-modulating adjuvants that work with

different types of vaccine antigens to enhance the immunogenic effect of the antigen. A number of vaccines are under development
by various vaccine companies, as well as by Isconova, using Isconova’s third generation nanoparticle adjuvant, Matrix-M™. The
Company believes that Isconova’s adjuvants will be powerful complements to its recombinant vaccine programs as three of its
clinical-stage programs and many of its pre-clinical programs are currently testing adjuvants to see whether immune responses can
be enhanced.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

Any statements in the discussion below, and elsewhere in this report, about our expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives,
assumptions or future events or performance are not historical facts and are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking
statements include, without limitation, statements regarding our expectations regarding future revenue and expense levels, the
efficacy, safety and intended utilization of our product candidates, the development of our clinical stage product candidates and our
recombinant vaccine technologies, the future development of our product candidates by us, the conduct, timing and results of future
clinical trials, plans regarding regulatory filings, our available cash resources and the availability of financing generally, including our
ability to employ our At Market Issuance Sales Agreement entered into in October of 2012, our plans regarding partnering activities
and business development initiatives, and other factors referenced herein. You can identify these forward-looking statements by the
use of words or phrases such as “believe,” “may,” “could,” “will,” “possible,” “can,” “estimate,” “continue,” “ongoing,” “consider,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “seek,” “plan,” “project,” “expect,” “should,” “would,” or “assume” or the negative of these terms, or other
comparable terminology, although not all forward-looking statements contain these words.
 

Any or all of our forward-looking statements in the Quarterly Report may turn out to be inaccurate. Among the factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements are risks and uncertainties
inherent in our business including, without limitation, the progress, timing or success of our clinical trials; difficulties or delays in
development, testing, obtaining regulatory approval for producing and marketing our product candidates; regulatory developments in
the United States or in foreign countries; the risks associated with our reliance on collaborations for the development and
commercialization of our product candidates; unexpected adverse side effects or inadequate efficacy of our product candidates that
could delay or prevent product development or commercialization, or that could result in recalls or product liability claims; our ability to
attract and retain key scientific, management or operational personnel; the size and growth potential of the markets for our product
candidates and our ability to serve those markets; the scope and validity of patent protection for our product candidates; competition
from other pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies; our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations or to otherwise
obtain additional financing to support our operations on commercially reasonable terms; successful administration of our business
and financial reporting capabilities; and other risks detailed in this report, including those identified in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors”
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for year ended December 31, 2012. In light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking
events and circumstances discussed in this Quarterly Report may not occur as contemplated, and actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated or implied by the forward-looking statements and we therefore caution readers not to place undue
reliance on such forward-looking statements.
 

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee
future results, events, levels of activity, performance or achievement. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, unless required by law.

 
Overview

 
Novavax, Inc., a Delaware corporation (Novavax, the Company, we, or us), is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company

focused on developing recombinant protein nanoparticle vaccines to address a broad range of infectious diseases. Our technology
platform is based on proprietary recombinant vaccine technology that includes virus-like particles (VLPs) and recombinant protein
micelle vaccines combined with a single-use bioprocessing production system. Our vaccine candidates are genetically engineered
three-dimensional nanostructures that incorporate immunologically important recombinant proteins. Our product pipeline targets a
variety of infectious diseases with vaccine candidates currently in mid-stage clinical development for seasonal influenza, pandemic
influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV).
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CPL Biologicals Private Limited (CPLB), which is owned 20% by us and 80% by Cadila Pharmaceuticals Limited (Cadila),

was established to develop and manufacture certain vaccine candidates, biosimilar products and diagnostic products for the territory
of India. CPLB operates a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility for the production of influenza vaccine and other vaccine candidates.
CPLB is actively developing a number of vaccine candidates that were genetically engineered by Novavax. CPLB’s seasonal and
pandemic influenza candidates initiated Phase 1 clinical trials in 2012. Also in 2012, CPLB formed a new collaboration to develop a
novel malaria vaccine in India with the International Centre for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology. CPLB’s rabies vaccine
candidate is expected to begin a Phase 1 clinical trial in India in 2013. We continue to account for our investment in CPLB using the
equity method. Since the carrying value of our initial investment was nominal and there is no guarantee or commitment to provide
future funding, we have not recorded nor do we expect to record losses related to this investment in the future.

 
On July 31, 2013, we announced that, pursuant to our public tender offer to acquire all outstanding shares and warrants of

Sweden-based Isconova AB (“Isconova”) directly from such holders and a private offer for all outstanding stock options, we had
acquired: 97.4% of the outstanding Isconova shares for approximately 15.1 million shares of Novavax Common Stock; 100% of the
outstanding 2005-I warrants and 2005-II warrants for SEK 140,285 (or approximately $22,000 based on current exchange rate); and
100% of the stock options, for which we will issue 218,120 shares of Novavax Common Stock. We initiated the public tender offer on
July 9, 2013 and expect to settle these transactions in August 2013. In addition, we have extended the tender acceptance period until
August 20, 2013 in order to attempt to acquire the remaining 2.6% of the outstanding Isconova shares.
 

Isconova has focused its recent efforts on the development of saponin-based, immune-modulating adjuvants that work with
different types of vaccine antigens to enhance the immunogenic effect of the antigen. A number of vaccines are under development
by various vaccine companies, as well as by Isconova, using Isconova’s third generation nanoparticle adjuvant, Matrix-M™. We
believe that Isconova’s adjuvants will be powerful complements to our recombinant vaccine programs as three of our clinical-stage
programs and many of our pre-clinical programs are currently testing adjuvants to see whether immune responses can be enhanced.
 
Clinical Product Pipeline
 

A current summary of our significant research and development programs and status of development follows:
 

Program  Development Phase  Collaborator
RSV  Phase 2  PATH
Seasonal Quadrivalent Influenza  Phase 2  HHS BARDA/LGLS
Pandemic (H5N1) Influenza  Phase 1  HHS BARDA/LGLS
Pandemic (H7N9) Influenza  Phase 1  None
Seasonal Trivalent Influenza (India)  Phase 1  CPLB
Pandemic (H1N1) Influenza (India)  Phase 1  CPLB
Rabies  Phase 1-ready  CPLB

 
Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV)

 
RSV is a widespread disease that causes infections of the lower respiratory tract. While RSV affects persons of all ages, it

acutely impacts infants, the elderly, young children and others with compromised immune systems. Current estimates indicate that
RSV is responsible for over 30 million new acute lower respiratory infection episodes and between 150,000 and 200,000 deaths in

children under five years old1. In the U.S., nearly all children become infected with RSV before they are two years old; it has been
associated with 20% of hospitalizations and 15% of office visits for acute respiratory infection in young children. The World Health
Organization (WHO) estimates that the global disease burden for RSV is 64 million cases. Because there is no approved prophylactic
vaccine, the unmet medical need of an RSV vaccine has the potential to protect millions of patients from this far-reaching disease.

 

1 Nair, H., et al., (2010) Lancet. 375:1545-1555
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We are developing a vaccine candidate to prevent RSV disease and are looking at susceptible target populations, including

infants who may receive protection through antibodies transferred from their mothers who would be immunized during the last
trimester of pregnancy, the elderly and young children.
 
Maternal Immunization Development Program - Clinical Experience

 
In October 2012, we initiated a Phase 2 dose-ranging clinical trial in women of child bearing age, which supports our goals of

developing a vaccine for maternal immunization of pregnant women. In April 2013, we announced top-line data from this Phase 2
clinical trial that were similar to, or exceeded, immune responses seen in our first Phase 1 clinical trial. This randomized, blinded,
placebo-controlled Phase 2 clinical trial evaluated the safety and immunogenicity of two dose levels of our RSV vaccine candidate,
with and without an aluminum phosphate adjuvant, in 330 women of childbearing age. We further reported:

 
· the clinical trial’s protocol-specified objectives were accomplished;
 
· the vaccine candidate was generally well-tolerated with a similar safety profile as previously observed;
 
· the use of aluminum phosphate as an adjuvant enhanced both the single and two-dose regimen anti-F IgG responses;
 
· the two-dose alum groups showed a 13 to 16-fold rise compared to a 6 to 10-fold rise in the non-alum groups;
 
· Antigen dose increases had a minimal impact on responses; and
 
· Palivizumab-like antibody titers rose 8 t o 9-fold, with four-fold rises i n ≥92% o f subjects i n the two-dose alum-

adjuvanted vaccine groups.
 
Our expected path forward in maternal immunization would include a dose-confirmation clinical trial in women of childbearing

age. In parallel, and in consultation with the FDA, we would expect to initiate a reproductive toxicology study in rabbits to confirm the
safety of our proposed formulation in advance of initiating a clinical trial in pregnant women.
 
Elderly Development Program - Clinical Experience

 
In October 2012, we also initiated a Phase 1 dose-ranging clinical trial in the elderly, which supports our goals of developing a

vaccine in elderly adults. This clinical trial was a randomized, blinded, placebo-controlled Phase 1 clinical trial that evaluated the
safety and immunogenicity in 220 enrolled elderly adults, 60 years of age and older, who received a single intramuscular injection of
our RSV vaccine candidate (with and without an aluminum phosphate adjuvant) or placebo plus a single dose of licensed influenza
vaccine or placebo at days 0 and 28. Subjects were also inoculated with a commercially-available trivalent influenza vaccine (TIV) at
days 0 and 28. In July 2013, we announced top-line data from the Phase 1 clinical trial in the elderly that further corroborated our
previous clinical experiences with our RSV vaccine candidate. We further reported:

 
· the clinical trial’s protocol-specified objectives were accomplished;
 
· the vaccine candidate was generally well-tolerated with a similar safety profile as previously observed;
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· the overall immune responses, in terms of both frequency and amplitude of antibody rises, were greater in the groups

receiving the 90µg dose of the RSV vaccine candidate compared to the groups dosed with 60µg;
 
· significantly greater immune responses were observed in the groups receiving adjuvanted vaccine compared to those

receiving unadjuvanted formulations;
 
· increases in anti-F IgG were observed in all actively-vaccinated groups by Day 7 post-immunization with antibody

levels that continued to rise through Day 28 among recipients of unadjuvanted vaccines, which then appeared to
plateau, while such levels continued to rise through Day 56 in recipients of adjuvanted vaccine, with best responses
observed in the 90µg adjuvanted vaccine group;

 
· Day 0 baseline data showed an essentially undetectable level of antibodies that compete with palivizumab in

subjects, which were then shown to increase to between 80% and 97% in active vaccine recipients by Day 28, and
sustained in subjects receiving a second dose of the adjuvanted vaccines at 97% through Day 56;

 
· RSV A and B microneutralizing antibody levels increased in all vaccinated subject groups, with greatest responses

seen in the 90µg adjuvanted vaccine group; and
 
· Hemagglutination-inhibiting (HAI) responses to the TIV were unaffected by co-administration with the RSV vaccine

candidates, which is an important feature given that RSV and influenza vaccines are likely be given to the elderly
contemporaneously in practice.

 
Our expected path forward in the elderly would include a dose-confirmation clinical trial, as we continue to assess the

potential for a combination RSV and influenza vaccine for the elderly.
 
PATH Vaccine Solutions (PATH) Clinical Development Agreement
 
In July 2012, we entered into a clinical development agreement with PATH to develop our vaccine candidate to protect

against RSV through maternal immunization in low-resource countries (RSV Collaboration Program). We were awarded
approximately $2.0 million by PATH for initial funding under the agreement to partially support our Phase 2 dose-ranging clinical trial
in women of childbearing age as described above. In August 2013, the funding under the agreement was increased by $0.3 million
and the term extended to April 2014 to support our reproductive toxicology studies, which are necessary before we conduct clinical
trials in pregnant women. We retain global rights to commercialize the product and have made a commitment to make the vaccine
affordable and available in low-resource countries. To the extent PATH has elected to continue to fund 50% of our external clinical
development costs for the RSV Collaboration Program, but we do not continue development, we would then grant PATH a fully-paid
license to our RSV vaccine technology for use in pregnant women in such low-resource countries.
 
Influenza

 
Seasonal Influenza Vaccine
 
Developing and commercializing a Novavax seasonal influenza vaccine remains an important strategic goal and viable

opportunity for us. The Advisory Committee for Immunization Practices of the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
recommends that all persons aged six months and older should be vaccinated annually against seasonal influenza. In conjunction
with these universal recommendations, attention from the 2009 influenza H1N1 pandemic has increased public health awareness of
the importance of seasonal influenza vaccination, the market for which is expected to continue to grow worldwide in both developed
and developing global markets.
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There are currently three quadrivalent influenza vaccines licensed in the U.S., but in the coming years, additional seasonal

influenza vaccines are expected to be produced and licensed within and outside of the U.S. in a quadrivalent formulation (four
influenza strains: two influenza A strains and two influenza B strains), as opposed to the current trivalent formulation (three influenza
strains: two influenza A strains and one influenza B strain). With two distinct lineages of influenza B viruses circulating, governmental
health authorities have advocated for the addition of a second influenza B strain to provide additional protection. Current estimates for
seasonal influenza vaccines growth in the top seven markets (U.S., Japan, France, Germany, Italy, Spain and UK), show potential

growth from the current market of approximately $3.6 billion to $4.7 billion over the next ten years2. Recombinant seasonal influenza
vaccines, like the candidate we are developing, have an important advantage; once licensed for commercial sale, large quantities of
vaccine can be quickly and cost-effectively manufactured without the use of either the live influenza virus or eggs.

 
Top-line data from our most recent Phase 2 clinical trial for our quadrivalent influenza vaccine candidate were announced in

July 2012. In that clinical trial, our quadrivalent VLP vaccine candidate demonstrated immunogenicity against all four viral strains
based on HAI responses at day 21, and was also well-tolerated, as evidenced by the absence of any observed vaccine-related
serious adverse events (SAEs) and an acceptable reactogenicity profile. Our vaccine candidate met the FDA accelerated approval
seroprotection rates criterion for all four viral strains. The potential to fulfill the seroconversion rates criterion was demonstrated for
three of the four viral strains. The fourth strain, B/Brisbane/60/08, despite fulfilling the seroprotection criterion, failed to demonstrate a
satisfactory seroconversion rate. Following our last Phase 2 clinical trial, our activities with respect to our seasonal influenza vaccine
candidate have been focused on assessing and “locking” the manufacturing process that will ensure consistent and enhanced
immune responses in all strains, with completion of these activities expected to occur in the third quarter of 2013. During the second
half of 2013, we expect to begin manufacturing A and B strain influenza VLPs for the next Phase 2 clinical trial with our quadrivalent
vaccine candidate.

 
Pandemic Influenza Vaccine
 
In the aftermath of the 2009 H1N1 influenza pandemic, recognition of the potential devastation of a human influenza

pandemic remains a key priority with both governmental health authorities and influenza vaccine manufacturers. In the U.S. alone,
the 2009 H1N1 pandemic led to the production of approximately 126 million doses of monovalent (single strain) vaccine. Public health
awareness and government preparedness for the next potential influenza pandemic are driving development of vaccines that can be
manufactured quickly against a potentially threatening influenza strain. Industry and health experts have focused attention on
developing a monovalent H5N1 influenza vaccine as a potential key defense against a future pandemic threat.

 
In October 2012, we reported positive results from two Phase 1 clinical trials of our pandemic (H5N1) vaccine candidate in

combination with two different adjuvants, both of which are designed to improve the immunogenicity of vaccines at lower doses and
thus provide antigen dose-sparing. The top-line data demonstrated safety and immunogenicity of varying dose-levels of the vaccine,
with and without adjuvant, and further demonstrated statistically significant robust adjuvant effects on immune response. Our
expected path forward in pandemic would include a Phase 1/2 clinical trial. 

 
In April 2013, we initiated manufacturing of a new monovalent influenza vaccine candidate against the A/Anhui/1/13-like

H7N9 strain of avian influenza. This strain was first recognized by Chinese health authorities as a potential pandemic influenza threat
in late March 2013. In a three month period, we took the A(H7N9) viral gene sequence provided to vaccine manufacturers by the
WHO, developed and purified a VLP antigen, conducted multiple animal studies, and initiated a Phase 1 clinical trial in Australia. Top
line results from this trial are expected in late 2013. We believe that conducting this H7N9 campaign to develop a new vaccine
candidate is an important strategic undertaking demonstrating our capabilities to quickly address emerging influenza threats. We
initiated and are progressing with our H7N9 campaign on our own, independent from our contract with The Department of Health and
Human Services, Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (HHS BARDA).

 

2 Market Forecasts: Seasonal Influenza Vaccines. Datamonitor (2012)
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Potential Accelerated Approval Pathway for Influenza
 
In the past, Novavax has referenced attainment of accelerated approval immunogenicity endpoints for seroprotection and

seroconversion as a potential pathway for licensure of its influenza vaccines. The criteria for granting such accelerated approval of a
Biologics License Application (BLA, the biologic equivalent to a New Drug Application or NDA) for new seasonal and pandemic
influenza vaccines was published by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (FDA).
Under FDA guidance, developers that can demonstrate results that meet or exceed certain specified immunogenicity endpoint criteria
in their clinical trials may, at the FDA’s discretion, be granted a license to market a product prior to submission of traditional clinical
endpoint efficacy trial data. It should be noted that FDA licensure based on accelerated approval nevertheless requires sponsors to
conduct a post-licensure efficacy study to demonstrate the clinical benefit of the vaccine, which would thereby support traditional
approval of the vaccine. Because it is not possible to conduct a clinical endpoint efficacy study for a pandemic vaccine in advance of a
declared pandemic, FDA’s pandemic guidance allows for submission of seasonal influenza clinical efficacy data for the purpose of
confirming clinical benefit of a pandemic vaccine manufactured by the same process. Thus, the demonstration of efficacy with a
seasonal vaccine product provides a key link between the seasonal and pandemic programs. Accelerated approval further
necessitates a shortage of influenza vaccine relative to the total population recommended to receive such vaccine, a situation that
persists with seasonal influenza vaccine.

 
Although we have not ruled out this accelerated approval approach, particularly for our pandemic program or certain subject

populations within the seasonal influenza program, we do not expect to pursue accelerated approval of our quadrivalent seasonal
influenza vaccine, largely because of the uncertainty as to whether the accelerated approval pathway will be available to us at the
time of our BLA submissions and the unknown ability of current and new influenza strains to meet such accelerated approval criteria.
We are planning therefore to pursue traditional licensure of our quadrivalent seasonal influenza vaccine by conducting a clinical
endpoint efficacy study for the purpose of submitting the data within the original BLA. These efficacy data will also support the
requirement for clinical efficacy data for our pandemic vaccine program. Novavax plans to discuss with the FDA our licensure
pathways (both the traditional pathway for seasonal and possible accelerated pathways for pandemic and certain subject populations
within the seasonal program) during future formal meetings. The likely impact of such an efficacy trial would be an additional year
before FDA grants licensure to our seasonal influenza vaccine.

 
HHS BARDA Contract for Recombinant Influenza Vaccines
 
HHS BARDA awarded us a contract in February 2011, which funds the development of both our seasonal and pandemic

(H5N1) influenza vaccine candidates. The contract, valued at $97 million for the first three-year base-period and $82 million for an
HHS BARDA optional two-year period, is a cost-plus-fixed-fee contract in which HHS BARDA reimburses us for allowable direct
contract costs incurred plus allowable indirect costs and a fixed-fee earned in the ongoing clinical development and product scale-up
of our multivalent seasonal and monovalent pandemic (H5N1) influenza vaccines. We recognized revenue of approximately $6.5
million in the six months ended June 30, 2013, and have recognized approximately $41 million in revenue since the inception of the
contract.

 
Under certain circumstances, HHS BARDA reimbursements may be delayed or even potentially withheld. As we have

previously disclosed in our filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), in March 2012, we decided to
conduct a Phase 2 clinical trial of our quadrivalent seasonal influenza vaccine candidate (the 205 Trial) under our existing U.S.
investigational new drug application (IND) for our trivalent seasonal influenza vaccine candidate as opposed to waiting to conduct this
clinical trial under a new IND for our quadrivalent vaccine candidate (Quadrivalent IND). Based on our discussions with HHS BARDA
in 2012, the outside clinical trial costs for the 205 Trial may only be submitted for reimbursement to HHS BARDA and recorded as
revenue by us after we submit the clinical trial data in a future Quadrivalent IND. The submission of the Quadrivalent IND is expected
shortly before we initiate the next Phase 2 dose-confirmatory clinical trial, which has been delayed due to the development activity
associated with improving the seroconversion rate of one of the four strains. The outside clinical trial costs of the 205 Trial conducted
last year total $2.9 million, which was incurred from the inception of the clinical trial through June 30, 2013. These costs have been
recorded as an expense and are included in cost of government contracts revenue.
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LG Life Sciences, Ltd. (LGLS) License Agreement
 
In February 2011, we entered into a license agreement with LGLS that allows LGLS to use our technology to develop and

commercially sell our influenza vaccines in South Korea and certain other emerging-market countries. LGLS received an exclusive
license to our influenza VLP technology in South Korea and a non-exclusive license in the other specified countries. At its own cost,
LGLS is responsible for funding both its clinical development of the influenza VLP vaccines and a manufacturing facility to produce
such vaccine in South Korea. We received an upfront payment and may receive reimbursements of certain development and product
costs, payments related to the achievement of certain milestones and royalty payments in the high single digits from LGLS’s future
commercial sales of influenza VLP vaccines.

 
Rabies

 
Rabies is a disease that causes acute encephalitis, or swelling of the brain, in warm-blooded animals including humans. The

disease can be transmitted from one species of animal to another, such as from dogs to humans, most commonly by a bite from an
infected animal. For humans, rabies left untreated is almost invariably fatal. WHO has estimated that, when looking at the total cost
associated with rabies, in many countries, the cost of rabies post-exposure prophylaxis represents the highest healthcare

expenditure3. In Asia and Africa, estimates show a combined 55,000 annual human deaths from endemic canine rabies, with annual
treatment costs approaching $600 million, although human deaths from rabies are likely to be grossly underreported in a number of
countries, particularly in the youngest age groups. In India alone, 20,000 deaths are estimated to occur annually. Internal market data
of vaccine manufacturers suggest that at the global level, 15 million or more people receive rabies prophylaxis annually, the majority
of whom, live in China and India. It is estimated that in the absence of post-exposure prophylaxis, about 327,000 persons would die
from rabies in Africa and Asia each year. Marketed rabies vaccines are mostly used for post-exposure prophylaxis, which requires
generally between four and five administrations of vaccine. Pre-exposure prophylaxis is recommended for anyone who will be at

increased risk to the rabies virus, including travelers with extensive outdoor exposure in rural high-risk areas4.
 
CPLB is currently developing a rabies vaccine candidate that we genetically engineered. CPLB expects to initiate a Phase 1

clinical trial in India in late 2013 or early 2014. Our objective is to develop a recombinant vaccine that can be administered as a pre-
exposure prophylaxis for residents of certain higher-risk geographies, as well as travelers to such locations, and with the potential to
provide post-exposure prophylaxis with fewer doses. Preliminary pre-clinical results have demonstrated that this vaccine candidate
has the potential to successfully prevent the rabies virus from entering the central nervous system, thus preventing death.

 
Other Emerging Diseases
 

Novavax pays close attention to global reports of emerging diseases for which there do not appear to be immediate cures
and where a vaccine protocol could offer potential protection. In addition to our response to the A(H7N9) influenza strain (see
discussion above), we have been monitoring reports around the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus (MERS), a novel
coronavirus first identified in September 2012 by an Egyptian virologist, but which had become an emerging threat in 2013 with more
than 50 confirmed cases of MERS infection and 30 deaths. The MERS virus is a part of the coronavirus family that includes the
severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS). Because of the public health priority given to MERS, within weeks of getting
the virus’ sequence, Novavax successfully produced a vaccine candidate designed to provide protection against MERS. This vaccine
candidate, which was made using our recombinant nanoparticle vaccine technology, is based on the major surface spike protein,
which we had earlier identified in our work with a SARS vaccine candidate. Although this currently remains a pre-clinical program, we
believe that our MERS vaccine candidate offers a viable option to interested global public health authorities.
  

3 WHO Technical Report Series (2004)
4 Yousaf, et al. Virology Journal (2012) 9:50
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Sales of Common Stock

 
In October 2012, the Company entered into an At Market Issuance Sales Agreement (2012 Sales Agreement), under which

the Board of Directors of the Company (the Board) approved the Company’s sale of up to an aggregate of $50 million in gross
proceeds of its common stock. The shares of common stock are being offered pursuant to a shelf registration statement filed with the
SEC in March 2013, which replaced the previous shelf registration statement filed in 2010. The Board has appointed a standing
Finance Committee (the Committee) to assist with its responsibilities to monitor, provide advice to senior management of the
Company and approve all capital raising activities. The Committee has been authorized by the Board, absent any action by the Board
to the contrary, to take any additional actions necessary to carry out the Board’s authorization of the issuance and sale of the
common stock sold pursuant to the 2012 Sales Agreement. In doing so, the Committee is authorized to set the amount of shares to be
sold, the period of time during which such sales may occur and the minimum sales price per share. During the six months ended
June 30, 2013, the Company sold 4.6 million shares at sales prices ranging from of $2.06 ─ $2.63 per share, resulting in $10.0 million
in net proceeds. The most recent sales to occur under the 2012 Sales Agreement were on May 6, 2013.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates
 
There are no material changes to the Company’s critical accounting policies as described in Item 7 of the Company’s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, as filed with the SEC.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
 
We have considered the applicability and impact of all Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards

Updates (ASUs). Recently issued ASUs were evaluated and determined to be not applicable in this Quarterly Report.
 

Results of Operations
 
The following is a discussion of the historical financial condition and results of operations of the Company and should be read

in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto set forth in this Quarterly Report.
 

Three Months Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 (amounts in tables are presented in thousands, except per share information)
 
Revenue:
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Revenue:             
Total revenue  $ 3,531  $ 7,103  $ (3,572)
 

 
Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2013 was $3.5 million as compared to $7.1 million for the same period in

2012, a decrease of $3.6 million or 50%. Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 is primarily comprised of
services performed under the HHS BARDA contract and, to a much lesser extent in 2013, the PATH clinical development agreement.
The decrease in revenue is primarily due to the higher level of activity in the three months ended June 30, 2012 associated with our
influenza clinical trials under the HHS BARDA contract as compared to the same period in 2013 when no similar clinical trials were
initiated, partially offset by revenue under the PATH clinical development agreement in 2013.
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For 2013, we expect a slight decrease in revenue due to fewer externally funded clinical trials in 2013 as compared to 2012,

offset by increased product development activities under the HHS BARDA contract to support the ultimate initiation of later-stage
clinical trials of our seasonal influenza and pandemic (H5N1) influenza vaccine candidates.
 
Costs and Expenses:
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Costs and Expenses:             
Cost of government contracts revenue  $ 1,632  $ 5,118  $ (3,486)
Research and development   10,785   5,371   5,414 
General and administrative   4,012   2,469   1,543 
Total costs and expenses  $ 16,429  $ 12,958  $ 3,471 

 
Cost of Government Contracts Revenue
 
Cost of government contracts revenue includes direct costs of salaries, laboratory supplies, consultants and subcontractors

and other direct costs associated with our process development, manufacturing, clinical, regulatory and quality assurance activities
under research contracts. Cost of government contracts revenue decreased to $1.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013
from $5.1 million for the same period in 2012, a decrease of $3.5 million, or 68%. The decrease in cost of government contracts
revenue is primarily related to the levels of activity associated with our influenza clinical trials previously mentioned, including the 205
Trial (see discussion of the 205 Trial in HHS BARDA Contract for Recombinant Influenza Vaccines above).

 
For 2013, we expect the cost of government contracts revenue to decrease due to fewer externally funded clinical trials in

2013 as compared to 2012, offset by increased product development activities under the HHS BARDA contract.
 
Research and Development Expenses
 
Research and development expenses include salaries, laboratory supplies, consultants and subcontractors and other

expenses associated with our process development, manufacturing, clinical, regulatory and quality assurance activities for internally
funded programs. In addition, indirect costs such as fringe benefits and overhead expenses, are also included in research and
development expenses. Research and development expenses increased to $10.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013
from $5.4 million for the same period in 2012, an increase of $5.4 million, or 101%. The increase in research and development
expenses was primarily due to increased costs relating to our RSV and pandemic (H7N9) influenza clinical trials (internally funded
programs at this time) and higher employee-related costs. For 2013, we expect a significant increase in research and development
expenses primarily due to additional clinical trials of our RSV and pandemic (H7N9) influenza vaccine candidates and employee-
related costs to support product development of RSV and other potential vaccine candidates.
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Costs and Expenses by Functional Area
 
We track our cost of government contracts revenue and research and development expenses by the type of costs incurred in

identifying, developing, manufacturing and testing vaccine candidates. We evaluate and prioritize our activities according to functional
area and therefore believe that project-by-project information would not form a reasonable basis for disclosure to our investors. At
June 30, 2013, we had 131 employees dedicated to our research and development programs versus 98 employees as of June 30,
2012. Historically, we did not account for internal research and development expenses by project, since our employees work time is
spread across multiple programs and our internal manufacturing clean-room facility produces multiple vaccine candidates.

 
The following summarizes our cost of government contracts revenue and research and development expenses by functional

area for the three months ended June 30 (in millions).
 

  2013   2012  
Manufacturing  $ 7.4  $ 5.2 
Vaccine Discovery   1.1   0.8 
Clinical and Regulatory   3.9   4.5 
Total cost of government contracts revenue and research and

development expenses  $ 12.4  $ 10.5 

 
We do not provide forward-looking estimates of costs and time to complete our research programs due to the many

uncertainties associated with vaccine development. As we obtain data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials, we may elect to
discontinue or delay clinical trials in order to focus our resources on more promising vaccine candidates. Completion of clinical trials
may take several years or more, but the length of time can vary substantially depending upon the phase, size of clinical trial, primary
and secondary endpoints and the intended use of the vaccine candidate. The cost of clinical trials may vary significantly over the life
of a project as a result of a variety of factors, including:

 
 · the number of patients who participate in the clinical trials and the specific patient population;

 
 · the number of sites included in the clinical trials;

 
 · if clinical trial locations are domestic, international or both;

 
 · the time to enroll patients;

 
 · the duration of treatment and follow-up;

 
 · the safety and efficacy profile of the vaccine candidate; and

 
 · the cost and timing of, and the ability to secure, regulatory approvals.

 
As a result of these uncertainties, we are unable to determine with any significant degree of certainty the duration and

completion costs of our research and development projects or when, and to what extent, we will generate future cash flows from our
research projects.

 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses increased to $4.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013 from $2.5 million for

the same period in 2012, an increase of $1.5 million, or 62%. The increase in expenses was primarily due to higher professional fees
associated with our public tender offer of Isconova. For 2013, we expect general and administrative expenses to increase as a result
of professional fees associated with our public tender offer of Isconova.
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Other Income (Expense):
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Other Income (Expense):             
Interest income  $ 48  $ 39  $ 9 
Interest expense   (45)  (3)  (42)
Change in fair value of warrant liability   267   (101)  368 
Total other income (expense)  $ 270  $ (65) $ 335 

 
We had total other income of $0.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013 compared to total other expense of $0.1

million for the same period in 2012. For the three months ended June 30, 2013, the change in fair value of the warrant liability
resulted in a $0.4 million increase in total other income as compared to the same period in 2012. The warrants expired unexercised
on July 31, 2013.
 
Net Loss:
 

  
Three Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Net Loss:             
Net loss  $ (12,633) $ (5,920) $ (6,713)
Net loss per share  $ (0.08) $ (0.05) $ (0.03)
Weighted shares outstanding   152,312   126,925   25,387 
 

 
Net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2013 was $12.6 million, or $0.08 per share, as compared to $5.9 million, or

$0.05 per share, for the same period in 2012, an increased net loss of $6.7 million. The increased net loss was primarily due to
higher research and development spending, including increased costs relating to our RSV and pandemic (H7N9) influenza clinical
trials and higher employee-related costs.

 
The increase in weighted average shares outstanding for the three months ended June 30, 2013 is primarily a result of sales

of our common stock in the aggregate of 35.5 million shares in 2012 and 2013.
 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 (amounts in tables are presented in thousands, except per share information)
 
Revenue:
 

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Revenue:             
Total revenue  $ 7,365  $ 11,745  $ (4,380)

 
Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2013 was $7.4 million as compared to $11.7 million for the same period in 2012,

a decrease of $4.4 million or 37%. Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 is primarily comprised of services
performed under the HHS BARDA contract and, to a much lesser extent in 2013, the PATH clinical development agreement. The
decrease in revenue is primarily due to the higher level of activity in the six months ended June 30, 2012 associated with our
influenza clinical trials under the HHS BARDA contract as compared to the same period in 2013 when no similar clinical trials were
initiated, partially offset by revenue under the PATH clinical development agreement in 2013.
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Costs and Expenses:
 

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Costs and Expenses:             
Cost of government contracts revenue  $ 3,344  $ 8,903  $ (5,559)
Research and development   20,041   10,627   9,414 
General and administrative   6,882   5,537   1,345 
Total costs and expenses  $ 30,267  $ 25,067  $ 5,200 

 
Cost of Government Contracts Revenue

 
Cost of government contracts revenue includes direct costs of salaries, laboratory supplies, consultants and subcontractors

and other direct costs associated with our process development, manufacturing, clinical, regulatory and quality assurance activities
under research contracts. Cost of government contracts revenue decreased to $3.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013
from $8.9 million for the same period in 2012, a decrease of $5.6 million, or 62%. The decrease in cost of government contracts
revenue is primarily related to the levels of activity associated with our influenza clinical trials previously mentioned, including the 205
Trial (see discussion of the 205 Trial in HHS BARDA Contract for Recombinant Influenza Vaccines above).

 
Research and Development Expenses
 
Research and development expenses include salaries, laboratory supplies, consultants and subcontractors and other

expenses associated with our process development, manufacturing, clinical, regulatory and quality assurance activities for internally
funded programs. In addition, indirect costs such as fringe benefits and overhead expenses, are also included in research and
development expenses. Research and development expenses increased to $20.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013
from $10.6 million for the same period in 2012, an increase of $9.4 million, or 89%. The increase in research and development
expenses was primarily due to increased costs relating to our RSV and pandemic (H7N9) influenza clinical trials (internally funded
programs at this time) and higher employee-related costs.

 
Costs and Expenses by Functional Area
 
The following summarizes our cost of government contracts revenue and research and development expenses by functional

area for the six months ended June 30 (in millions).
 

  2013   2012  
Manufacturing  $ 13.2  $ 9.6 
Vaccine Discovery   2.6   1.6 
Clinical and Regulatory   7.6   8.3 
Total cost of government contracts revenue and research and

development expenses  $ 23.4  $ 19.5 

 
General and Administrative Expenses
 
General and administrative expenses increased to $6.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2013 from $5.5 million for

the same period in 2012, an increase of $1.3 million, or 24%. The increase in expenses was primarily due to higher professional fees
associated with our public tender offer of Isconova.
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Other Income (Expense):
 

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Other Income (Expense):             
Interest income  $ 95  $ 72  $ 23 
Interest expense   (68)  (6)  (62)
Change in fair value of warrant liability   267   ―   267 
Total other income (expense)  $ 294  $ 66  $ 228 

 
We had total other income of $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 compared to total other income of $0.1

million for the same period in 2012. For the six months ended June 30, 2013, the change in fair value of the warrant liability resulted
in a $0.3 million increase in total other income as compared to the same period in 2012. The warrants expired unexercised on July
31, 2013.
 
Net Loss:
 

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   

Change
2012 to

2013  
Net Loss:             
Net loss  $ (22,630) $ (13,256) $ (9,374)
Net loss per share  $ (0.15) $ (0.11) $ (0.04)
Weighted shares outstanding   150,391   123,741   26,650 

 
Net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2013 was $22.6 million, or $0.15 per share, as compared to $13.3 million, or

$0.11 per share, for the same period in 2012, an increased net loss of $9.4 million. The increased net loss was primarily due to
higher research and development spending, including increased costs relating to our RSV and pandemic (H7N9) influenza clinical
trials and higher employee-related costs.

 
The increase in weighted average shares outstanding for the six months ended June 30, 2013 is primarily a result of sales of

our common stock in the aggregate of 35.5 million shares in 2012 and 2013.
 
Liquidity Matters and Capital Resources
 

Our future capital requirements depend on numerous factors including, but not limited to, the commitments and progress of
our research and development programs, the progress of pre-clinical and clinical testing, the time and costs involved in obtaining
regulatory approvals, the costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing patent claims and other intellectual property rights and
manufacturing costs. We plan to continue to have multiple vaccines and products in various stages of development, and we believe
our operating expenses and capital requirements will fluctuate depending upon the timing of certain events, such as the scope,
initiation, rate and progress of our pre-clinical studies and clinical trials and other research and development activities.

 
As of June 30, 2013, we had $40.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and investments as compared to $50.3 million as of

December 31, 2012. These amounts consisted of $2.6 million in cash and cash equivalents and $38.0 million in investments as of
June 30, 2013 as compared to $17.4 million in cash and cash equivalents and $32.9 million in investments at December 31, 2012.
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The following table summarizes cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):
 

  
Six Months Ended

June 30,  

  2013   2012   
Change 2012

to 2013  
Summary of Cash Flows:             
Net cash (used in) provided by:             

Operating activities  $ (18,216)  $ (10,346)  $ (7,870)
Investing activities   (8,181)   (7,798)   (383)
Financing activities   11,572   19,374   (7,802)

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (14,825)   1,230   (16,055)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   17,399   14,104   3,295 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 2,574  $ 15,334  $ (12,760)

 
Net cash used in operating activities increased to $18.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 as compared to $10.3

million for the same period in 2012, respectively. The increase in cash usage was primarily due to increased costs relating to our
RSV and pandemic (H7N9) influenza clinical trials and higher employee-related costs.

 
During the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, our investing activities consisted of purchases and maturities of

investments and capital expenditures. In the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, we primarily purchased investments to
increase our rate of return on our investments. Capital expenditures for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 were $3.2
million and $1.1 million, respectively. The increase in capital expenditures was primarily due to purchase of laboratory equipment and
tenant improvements relating to our new manufacturing facility. In late 2013, we expect our level of capital expenditures to decrease
due to the expected completion of the scale-up work on our new manufacturing facility.

 
Our financing activities consist primarily of sales of our common stock. We received net proceeds of $10.0 million at an

average sales price of $2.22 per share in the six months ended June 30, 2013 as compared to $20.0 million at an average sales price
of $1.29 per share in the same period of 2012 from the sale of our common stock through our At Market Issuance Sales Agreements
in 2013 and 2012 and to two affiliates of RA Capital Management, LLC in 2012.

 
In November 2011, we entered into lease agreements under which we lease our new manufacturing, laboratory and office

space in Gaithersburg, Maryland with rent payments for such space to the landlord commencing April 1, 2014. Under the terms of the
arrangement, the landlord provided us with a tenant improvement allowance of $2.5 million and an additional tenant improvement
allowance of $3 million (collectively, the Improvement Allowance). The additional tenant improvement allowance is to be paid back to
the landlord over the remaining term of the lease agreement through additional rent payments. We were funded $0.7 million in the six
months ended June 30, 2013, and have been funded $5.0 million in total under the Improvement Allowance.

 
In September 2012, we entered into a master security agreement, whereby we could borrow up to $2.0 million to finance the

purchases of equipment through June 2013 (Equipment Loan). We financed $1.5 million in the six months ended June 30, 2013, and
have financed $2.0 million in total under the Equipment Loan.

 
We have entered into agreements with outside providers to support our clinical development. As of June 30, 2013, $4.9

million remains unpaid on certain of these agreements in the event our outside providers complete their services in 2013. However,
under the terms of the agreements, we have the option to terminate for convenience pursuant to notification, but we would be
obligated to pay the provider for all costs incurred through the effective date of termination.
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We have licensed certain rights from Wyeth. The Wyeth license, which provides for an upfront payment (previously made),

ongoing annual license fees, milestone payments and royalties on any product sales, is a non-exclusive, worldwide license to a
family of patent applications covering VLP technology for use in human vaccines in certain fields, with expected patent expiration in
early 2022. The license may be terminated by Wyeth only for cause and may be terminated by us only after we have provided ninety
(90) days notice that we have absolutely and finally ceased activity, including through any affiliate or sublicense, related to the
manufacturing, development, marketing or sale of products covered by the license. Payments under the agreement to Wyeth from
2007 through June 30, 2013 totaled $5.7 million, of which no amounts were paid in the six months ended June 30, 2013. We do not
expect to make a milestone payment to Wyeth in the next 12 months.

 
In connection with CPLB, we entered into a master services agreement with Cadila, which we and Cadila amended first in

July 2011, and subsequently in March 2013, in each case to extend the term by one year for which services can be provided by
Cadila under this agreement. Under the revised terms, if, by March 2014, the amount of services provided by Cadila under the master
services agreement is less than $7.5 million, we will pay Cadila the portion of the shortfall amount that is less than or equal to $2.0
million and 50% of the portion of the shortfall amount that exceeds $2.0 million. Through June 30, 2013, we have purchased $1.8
million in services from Cadila pursuant to this agreement.

 
Based on our current cash and cash equivalents and investments, including our recent private equity offerings, anticipated

revenue under the contract with HHS BARDA, possible proceeds from the sales of our common stock under our 2012 Sales
Agreement and our current business operations, we believe we have adequate capital resources available to fund our operating
plans into 2015. Additional capital will be required in the future to develop our vaccine candidates through clinical development,
manufacturing and commercialization. Our ability to obtain such additional capital is subject to various factors:

 
· generating revenue under the HHS BARDA contract is subject to our performance under the contract, including our

ability to collect on delayed reimbursement situations, such as the 205 Trial costs; and
 

· raising funds under our 2012 Sales Agreement is subject to both our business performance and market conditions.
 
Further, we may seek additional capital through further public or private equity offerings, debt financing, additional strategic

alliance and licensing arrangements, non-dilutive government contracts, collaborative arrangements or some combination of these
financing alternatives. Any capital raised by an equity offering will likely be substantially dilutive to the existing stockholders and any
licensing or development arrangement may require us to give up rights to a product or technology at less than its full potential value.
Other than our 2012 Sales Agreement and Improvement Allowance, we have not secured any additional commitments for new
financing nor can we provide any assurance that new financing will be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. If we are
unable to perform under the HHS BARDA contract or obtain additional capital, we will assess our capital resources and will likely be
required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more of our product research and development programs, and/or downsize
our organization, including our general and administrative infrastructure.
 
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital until it is required to fund operations while at the
same time maximizing the income we receive from our investments without significantly increasing risk. As of June 30, 2013, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $2.6 million, investments of $38.0 million, all of which are short-term, and working capital of $34.1
million.

 
Our exposure to market risk is primarily confined to our investment portfolio. As of June 30, 2013, our investments were

classified as available-for-sale. We do not believe that a change in the market rates of interest would have any significant impact on
the realizable value of our investment portfolio. Changes in interest rates may affect the investment income we earn on our
investments when they mature and the proceeds are reinvested into new investments and, therefore, could impact our cash flows
and results of operations.
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Interest and dividend income is recorded when earned and included in interest income. Premiums and discounts, if any, on

investments are amortized or accreted to maturity and included in interest income. The specific identification method is used in
computing realized gains and losses on the sale of our securities.

 
We are headquartered in the U.S. where we conduct the vast majority of our business activities. Accordingly, we have not

had any material exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations.
 
We do not have material debt and, as such, do not believe that we are exposed to any material interest rate risk as a result of

our borrowing activities.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our management, with the assistance of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has reviewed and evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of June 30, 2013. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure controls and
procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their control objectives. Based on the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2013, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated any changes in our
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the second quarter of 2013, and has concluded that there was no change
that occurred during the second quarter of 2013 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

 
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 

There are no material changes to the Company’s risk factors as described in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012, except as follows:

 
Our business may be adversely affected if we do not successfully execute our business development initiatives.

 
We anticipate growing through both internal development projects, as well as external opportunities, which include the

acquisition, partnering and in-licensing of products, technologies and companies or the entry into strategic alliances and
collaborations. The availability of high quality opportunities is limited, and we may fail to identify candidates that we and our
stockholder consider suitable or complete transactions on terms that prove advantageous. In order to pursue such opportunities, we
may require significant additional financing, which may not be available to us on favorable terms, if at all. Even if we are able to
successfully identify and complete acquisitions, like our expected business combination with Isconova, we may not be able to
integrate the assets or take full advantage of the opportunities and, consequently, may not realize the benefits that we expect.
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To effectively manage our current and future potential growth, we will need to continue to enhance our operational, financial

and management processes and to effectively expand, train and manage our employee base. Supporting our growth initiatives will
require significant expenditures and management resources, including investments in research and development, manufacturing and
other areas of our business. If we do not successfully manage our growth and do not successfully execute our growth initiatives, then
our business and financial results may be adversely impacted, and we may incur asset impairment or restructuring charges.

 
Item 6. Exhibits
 

Exhibits marked with a single asterisk (*) are filed herewith. Exhibits marked with a double plus sign (††) refer to management
contracts, compensatory plans or arrangements.

 
3.1*  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Novavax, Inc., as amended by Certificates of Amendment dated

December 18, 2000, July 8, 2004, May 13, 2009 and dated June 13, 2013
   
10.1††  Employment agreement between Novavax, Inc. and Barclay A. Phillips dated June 24, 2013 (Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 28, 2013)
   
31.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(e) of the Securities Exchange Act
   
31.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(e) of the Securities Exchange Act  
   
32.1*  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   
32.2*  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

 NOVAVAX, INC.
  
Date: August 8, 2013 By: /s/ Stanley C. Erck
  President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
Date: August 8, 2013 By: /s/ Barclay A. Phillips
  Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 3.1
 
 

 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF
NOVAVAX, INC.

 
NOVAVAX, INC. (the “Corporation”), a corporation originally organized and incorporated under the name MPS, Inc. by the

filing of a Certificate of Incorporation in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on June 18, 1987, as amended by
a Certificate of Amendment dated July 30, 1987 and filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on August 3,
1987, a Certificate of Merger dated February 5, 1988 filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on February
9, 1988, a Certificate of Amendment dated October 4, 1991 and filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware
on October 7, 1991, and a Certificate of Amendment dated November 20, 1995 and filed in the Office of the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware on November 20, 1995, and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware,
does hereby certify as follows:

 
The Board of Directors of the Corporation, at a meeting duly held on November 17, 1995, adopted a resolution, pursuant to

Sections 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, setting forth an Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of the Corporation and declaring said Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation advisable. The stockholders of
the Corporation duly approved said proposed Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation by written consent in accordance
with Sections 228, 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, and written notice of such consent has been
given to all stockholders who have not consented in writing to said restatement. The resolution setting forth the Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation is as follows:

 
RESOLVED: That the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended, be and hereby is amended and

restated in its entirety so that the same shall read as follows:
 
FIRST: The name of the Corporation is: Novavax, Inc.
 
SECOND: The address of its registered office in the State of Delaware is Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, in

the City of Wilmington, County of New Castle. The name of its registered agent at such address is The Corporation Trust Company.
 
THIRD: The nature of the business or purposes to be conducted or promoted by the Corporation is as follows:
 
To engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of

Delaware.
 
FOURTH: The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is (i) thirty

million (30,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $.01 par value per share (“Common Stock”), and (ii) two million (2,000,000) shares of
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value per share (“Preferred Stock”), which may be issued from time to time in one or more series as set
forth in Part B of this Article FOURTH.
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The following is a statement of the designations and the powers, privileges and rights, and the qualifications, limitations or

restrictions thereof in respect of each class of capital stock of the Corporation.
 

A. COMMON STOCK.
 

1. General. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of the Common Stock are subject to and qualified by the
rights of the holders of the Preferred Stock of any series as may be designated by the Board of Directors upon any issuance of the
Preferred Stock of any series.

 
2. Voting. The holders of the Common Stock are entitled to one vote for each share held at all meetings of stockholders (and

written actions in lieu of meetings). There shall be no cumulative voting.
 
The number of authorized shares of Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares

thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the stock of the Corporation entitled to vote,
irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the General Corporation Law of Delaware.

 
3. Dividends. Dividends may be declared and paid on the Common Stock from funds lawfully available therefor as and when

determined by the Board of Directors and subject to any preferential dividend rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock.
 
4. Liquidation. Upon the dissolution or liquidation of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, holders of Common

Stock will be entitled to receive all assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders, subject to any preferential
rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock.

 
B. PREFERRED STOCK.
 

Preferred Stock may be issued from time to time in one or more series, each of such series to have such terms as stated or
expressed herein and in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of such series adopted by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation as hereinafter provided.

 
Any shares of Preferred Stock which may be redeemed, purchased or acquired by the Corporation may be reissued except

as otherwise provided by law. Different series of Preferred Stock shall not be construed to constitute different classes of shares for
the purposes of voting by classes unless expressly provided.

 
Authority is hereby expressly granted to the Board of Directors from time to time to issue the Preferred Stock in one or more

series, and in connection with the creation of any such series, by resolution or resolutions providing for the issue of the shares
thereof, to determine and fix such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative
participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including without limitation thereof,
dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, as shall be stated and expressed in such
resolutions, all to the full extent now or hereafter permitted by the General Corporation Law of Delaware. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the resolutions providing for issuance of any series of Preferred Stock may provide that such series shall
be superior or rank equally or be junior to the Preferred Stock of any other series to the extent permitted by law. Except as otherwise
specifically provided in this Certificate of Incorporation, no vote of the holders of the Preferred Stock or Common Stock shall be a
prerequisite to the issuance of any shares of any series of the Preferred Stock authorized by and complying with the conditions of the
Certificate of Incorporation, the right to have such vote being expressly waived by all present and future holders of the capital stock of
the Corporation.
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FIFTH: The Corporation shall have a perpetual existence.
 
SIXTH: In furtherance of and not in limitation of powers conferred by statute, it is further provided that the Board of Directors

is expressly authorized to adopt, amend or repeal the By-Laws of the Corporation.
 
SEVENTH: Whenever a compromise or arrangement is proposed between this corporation and its creditors or any class of

them and/or between this corporation and its stockholders or any class of them, any court of equitable jurisdiction within the State of
Delaware may, on the application in a summary way of this corporation or of any creditor or stockholder thereof, or on the application
of any receiver or receivers appointed for this corporation under the provisions of section 291 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code or on
the application of trustees in dissolution or of any receiver or receivers appointed for this corporation under the provisions of section
279 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code order a meeting of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of
stockholders of this corporation, as the case may be, to be summoned in such manner as the said court directs. If a majority in
number representing three-fourths in value of the creditors or class of creditors, and/or of the stockholders or class of stockholders of
this corporation, as the case may be, agree to any compromise or arrangement and to any promise or arrangement, the said
compromise or arrangement and the said reorganization shall, if sanctioned by the court to which the said application has been made,
be binding on all the creditors or class of creditors, and/or on all the stockholders or class of stockholders, of this corporation, as the
case may be, and also on this corporation.

 
EIGHTH: Except to the extent that the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware prohibits the elimination or limitation

of liability of directors for breaches of fiduciary duty, no director of the Corporation shall be personally liable to the Corporation or its
stockholders for monetary damages for any breach of fiduciary duty as a director, notwithstanding any provision of law imposing such
liability. No amendment to or repeal of this provision shall apply to or have any effect on the liability or alleged liability of any director
of the Corporation for or with respect to any acts or omissions of such director occurring prior to such amendment.

 
NINTH: 1. Action, Suits and Proceedings Other than by or in the Right of the Corporation. The Corporation shall indemnify

each person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or
proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Corporation), by
reason of the fact that he is or was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving, or has
agreed to serve, at the request of the Corporation, as a director, officer or trustee of, or in a similar capacity with, another corporation,
partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (including any employee benefit plan) (all such persons being referred to hereafter
as an “Indemnitee”), or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) judgment, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in
connection with such action, suit or proceeding and any appeal therefrom, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably
believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had
no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order,
settlement, conviction or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did
not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation,
and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his conduct was unlawful.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article, except as set forth in Section 6 below, the Corporation shall not
indemnify an Indemnitee seeking indemnification in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by the Indemnitee unless
the initiation thereof was approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation.

 
2. Actions or Suits by or in the Right of the Corporation. The Corporation shall indemnify any Indemnitee who was or is a

party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Corporation
to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was, or has agreed to become, a director or officer of the
Corporation, or is or was serving, or has agreed to serve, at the request of the Corporation, as a director, officer or trustee of, or in a
similar capacity with, another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (including any employee benefit plan), or
by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, against all expenses (including attorneys’ fees) and
amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection with such action, suit or
proceeding and any appeal therefrom, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to,
the best interests of the Corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which
such person shall have been adjudged to be liable to the Corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery of
Delaware shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of such liability but in view of all the circumstances of the
case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses (including attorneys’ fees) which the Court of
Chancery of Delaware shall deem proper.

 
3. Indemnification for Expenses of Successful Party.
 
Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Article, to the extent that an Indemnitee has been successful, on the merits or

otherwise, in defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sections 1 and 2 of this Article, or in defense of any claim, issue
or matter therein, or on appeal from any such action, suit or proceeding, he shall be indemnified against all expenses (including
attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection therewith. Without limiting the foregoing, if any
action, suit or proceeding is disposed of, on the merits or otherwise (including a disposition without prejudice), without (i) the
disposition being adverse to the Indemnitee, (ii) an adjudication that the Indemnitee was liable to the Corporation, (iii) a plea of guilty
or nolo contendere by the Indemnitee, (iv) an adjudication that the Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a manner he reasonably
believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Corporation, and (v) with respect to any criminal proceeding, an
adjudication that the Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful, the Indemnitee shall be considered for
the purposes hereof to have been wholly successful with respect thereto.
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4. Notification and Defense of Claim. As a condition precedent to his right to be indemnified, the Indemnitee must notify the
Corporation in writing as soon as practicable of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation involving him for which indemnity will or
could be sought.

 
With respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation of which the Corporation is so notified, the Corporation will be

entitled to participate therein at its own expense and/or to assume the defense thereof at its own expense, with legal counsel
reasonably acceptable to the Indemnitee. After notice from the Corporation to the Indemnitee of its election so to assume such
defense, the Corporation shall not be liable to the Indemnitee for any legal or other expenses subsequently incurred by the
Indemnitee in connection with such claim, other than as provided below in this Section 4. The Indemnitee shall have the right to
employ his own counsel in connection with such claim, but the fees and expenses of such counsel incurred after notice from the
Corporation of its assumption of the defense thereof shall be at the expense of the Indemnitee unless (i) the employment of counsel
by the Indemnitee has been authorized by the Corporation, (ii) counsel to the Indemnitee shall have reasonably concluded that there
may be a conflict of interest or position on any significant issue between the Corporation and the Indemnitee in the conduct of the
defense of such action or (iii) the Corporation shall not in fact have employed counsel to assume the defense of such action, in each
of which cases the fees and expenses of counsel for the Indemnitee shall be at the expense of the Corporation, except as otherwise
expressly provided by this Article. The Corporation shall not be entitled, without the consent of the Indemnitee, to assume the defense
of any claim brought by or in the right of the Corporation or as to which counsel for the Indemnitee shall have reasonably made the
conclusion provided for in clause (ii) above.

 
5. Advance of Expenses. Subject to the provisions of Section 6 below, in the event that the Corporation does not assume the

defense pursuant to Section 4 of this Article of any action, suit, proceeding or investigation of which the Corporation receives notice
under this Article, any expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an Indemnitee in defending a civil or criminal action, suit,
proceeding or investigation or any appeal therefrom shall be paid by the Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such
matter; provided, however, that the payment of such expense incurred by an Indemnitee in advance of the final disposition of such
matter shall be made only upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay all amounts so advanced in the
event that it shall ultimately be determined that the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as authorized in
this Article. Such undertaking shall be accepted without reference to the financial ability of the Indemnitee to make such repayment.
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6. Procedure for Indemnification. In order to obtain indemnification or advancement of expenses pursuant to Section 1, 2, 3 or
5 of this Article, the Indemnitee shall submit to the Corporation a written request, including in such request such documentation and
information as is reasonably available to the Indemnitee and is reasonably necessary to determine whether and to what extent the
Indemnitee is entitled to indemnification or advancement of expenses. Any such indemnification or advancement of expenses shall be
made promptly, and in any event within 60 days after receipt by the Corporation of the written request of the Indemnitee, unless with
respect to requests under Section 1, 2 or 5 the Corporation determines, by clear and convincing evidence, within such 60-day period
that the Indemnitee did not meet the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Section 1 or 2, as the case may be. Such
determination shall be made in each instance by (a) a majority vote of the directors of the Corporation consisting of persons who are
not at that time parties to the action, suit or proceeding in question (“disinterested directors”), even though less than a quorum, (b) a
majority vote of a quorum of the outstanding shares of stock of all classes entitled to vote for directors, voting as a single class, which
quorum shall consist of stockholders who are not at that time parties to the action, suit or proceeding in question, (c) independent
legal counsel (who may be regular legal counsel to the Corporation), or (d) a court of competent jurisdiction.

 
7. Remedies. The right to indemnification or advances as granted by this Article shall be enforceable by the Indemnitee in

any court of competent jurisdiction if the Corporation denies such request, in whole or in part, or if no disposition thereof is made
within the 60-day period referred to above in Section 6. Unless otherwise provided by law, the burden of proving that the Indemnitee
is not entitled to indemnification or advanced of expenses under this Article shall be on the Corporation. Neither the failure of the
Corporation to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such action that indemnification is proper in the
circumstances because the Indemnitee has met the applicable standard of conduct, nor an actual determination by the Corporation
pursuant to Section 6 that the Indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall be a defense to the action or create
a presumption that the Indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct. The Indemnitee’s expenses (including attorneys’
fees) incurred in connection with successfully establishing his right to indemnification, in whole or in part, in any such proceeding
shall also be indemnified by the Corporation.

 
8. Subsequent Amendment. No amendment, termination or repeal of this Article or of the relevant provisions of the General

Corporation Law of Delaware or any other applicable laws shall affect or diminish in any way the rights of any Indemnitee to
indemnification under the provisions hereof with respect to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation arising out of or relating to any
actions, transactions or facts occurring prior to the final adoption of such amendment, termination or repeal.

 
9. Other Rights. The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by this Article shall not be deemed exclusive of

any other rights to which an Indemnitee seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under any law
(common or statutory), agreement or vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in his official
capacity and as to action in any other capacity while holding office for the Corporation, and shall continue as to an Indemnitee who
has ceased to be a director or officer, and shall inure to the benefit of the estate, heirs, executors and administrators of the
Indemnitee. Nothing contained in this Article shall be deemed to prohibit, and the Corporation is specifically authorized to enter into,
agreements with officers and directors providing indemnification rights and procedures different from those set forth in this Article. In
addition, the Corporation may, to the extent authorized from time to time by its Board of Directors, grant indemnification rights to other
employees or agents of the Corporation or other persons serving the Corporation and such rights may be equivalent to, or greater or
less than, those set forth in this Article.
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10. Partial Indemnification. If an Indemnitee is entitled under any provision of this Article to indemnification by the Corporation

for some or a portion of the expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines or amounts paid in settlement actually and
reasonably incurred by him or on his behalf in connection with any action, suit, proceeding or investigation and any appeal, therefrom
but not, however, for the total amount thereof, the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee for the portion of such
expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines or amounts paid in settlement to which the Indemnitee is entitled.

 
11. Insurance. The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any director,

officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise (including any
employee benefit plan) against any expense, liability or loss incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such,
whether or not the Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or loss under the
General Corporation law of Delaware.

 
12. Merger or Consolidation. If the Corporation is merged into or consolidated with another corporation and the Corporation is

not the surviving corporation, the surviving corporation shall assume the obligations of the Corporation under this Article with respect
to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation arising out of or relating to any actions, transactions or facts occurring prior to the date
of such merger or consolidation.

 
13. Savings Clause. If this Article or any portion hereof shall be invalidated on any ground by any court of competent

jurisdiction, then the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify each Indemnitee as to any expenses (including attorneys’ fees)
judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement in connection with any action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil,
criminal or administrative, including an action by or in the right of the Corporation, to the fullest extent permitted by any applicable
portion of this Article that shall not have been invalidated and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

 
14. Definitions. Terms used herein and defined in Section 145(h) and Section 145(i) of the General Corporation Law of

Delaware shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in such Section 145(h) and Section 145(i).
 
15. Subsequent Legislation. If the General Corporation Law of Delaware is amended after adoption of this Article to expand

further the indemnification permitted to Indemnitees, then the Corporation shall indemnify such persons to the fullest extent permitted
by the General Corporation Law of Delaware, as so amended.
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TENTH. The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in this Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by statute and this Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation, and all rights conferred upon stockholders herein are granted subject to this reservation.

 
ELEVENTH. This Article is inserted for the management of the business and for the conduct of the affairs of the Corporation.
 
1. Number of Directors. The number of directors of the Corporation shall not be less than three. The exact number of directors

within the limitations specified in the preceding sentence shall be fixed from time to time by, or in the manner provided in, the
Corporation’s By-Laws.

 
2. Classes of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be and is divided into three classes: Class I, Class II and Class III. No

one class shall have more than one director more than any other class. If a fraction is contained in the quotient arrived at by dividing
the designated number of directors by three, then, if such fraction is one-third, the extra director shall be a member of Class I, and if
such fraction is two-thirds, one of the extra directors shall be a member of Class I and one of the extra directors shall be a member of
Class II, unless otherwise provided from time to time by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors.

 
3. Election of Directors. Elections of directors need not be by written ballot except as and to the extent provided in the By-

Laws of the Corporation.
 
4. Terms of Office. Each director shall serve for a term ending on the date of the third annual meeting following the annual

meeting at which such director was elected; provided, that each initial director in Class I shall serve for a term ending on the date of
the annual meeting in 1996; each initial director in Class II shall serve for a term ending on the date of the annual meeting in 1997;
and each initial director in Class III shall serve for a term ending on the date of the annual meeting in 1998; and provided further, that
the term of each director shall be subject to the election and qualification of his successor and to his earlier death, resignation or
removal.

 
5. Allocation of Directors Among Classes in the Event of Increases or Decreases in the Number of Directors. In the event of

any increase or decrease in the authorized number of directors, (i) each director then serving as such shall nevertheless continue as
a director of the class of which he is a member and (ii) the newly created or eliminated directorships resulting from such increase or
decrease shall be apportioned by the Board of Directors among the three classes of directors so as to ensure that no one class has
more than one director more than any other class. To the extent possible, consistent with the foregoing rule, any newly created
directorships shall be added to those classes whose terms of office are to expire at the latest dates following such allocation, and any
newly eliminated directorships shall be subtracted from those classes whose terms of offices are to expire at the earliest dates
following such allocation, unless otherwise provided from time to time by resolution adopted by the Board of Directors.

 
6. Quorum; Action at Meeting. A majority of the directors at any time in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of

business. In the event one or more of the directors shall be disqualified to vote at any meeting, then the required quorum shall be
reduced by one for each director so disqualified, provided that in no case shall less than one-third of the number of directors fixed
pursuant to Section 1 above constitute a quorum. If at any meeting of the Board of Directors there shall be less than such a quorum,
a majority of those present may adjourn the meeting from time to time. Every act or decision done or made by a majority of the
directors present at a meeting duly held at which a quorum is present shall be regarded as the act of the Board of Directors unless a
greater number is required by law, by the By-Laws of the Corporation or by this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.
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7. Removal. Directors of the Corporation may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-
thirds of the shares of the capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote.

 
8. Vacancies. Any vacancy in the Board of Directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resulting from an enlargement

of the board, shall be filled only by a vote of a majority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole
remaining director. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected to hold office until the next election of the class for which such
director shall have been chosen, subject to the election and qualification of his successor and to his earlier death, resignation or
removal.

 
9. Stockholder Nominations and Introduction of Business, Etc. Advance notice of stockholder nominations for election of

directors and other business to be brought by stockholders before a meeting of stockholders shall be given in the manner provided by
the By-Laws of the Corporation.

 
10. Amendments to Article. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law, this Amended and Restated Certificate of

Incorporation or the By-Laws of the Corporation, and notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by law, the
affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation issued and
outstanding and entitled to vote shall be required to amend or repeal, or to adopt any provision inconsistent with, this Article
ELEVENTH.

 
TWELFTH. Stockholders of the Corporation may not take any action by written consent in lieu of a meeting. Notwithstanding

any other provisions of law, the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the By-Laws of the Corporation, and
notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by law, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least seventy-five
percent (75%) of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote shall be required to amend
or repeal, or to adopt any provision inconsistent with, this Article TWELFTH.

 
THIRTEENTH. Special meetings of stockholders may be called at any time by only the Chief Executive Officer (or, if there is

no Chief Executive Officer, the President) or by the Board of Directors. Business transacted at any special meeting of stockholders
shall be limited to matters relating to the purpose or purposes stated in the notice of meeting.

 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or the Corporation’s By-

Laws, and notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by law, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least
seventy-five percent (75%) of the shares of capital stock of the Corporation issued and outstanding and entitled to vote shall be
required to amend or repeal, or to adopt any provision inconsistent with, this Article THIRTEENTH.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused its corporate seal to be affixed hereto and this Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by its Chairman this 20th day of November, 1995.

 
NOVAVAX, INC.
 
By: /s/ EDWARD B.

HAGER, M.D.
Edward B. Hager,

M.D.
Chairman
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT

TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

NOVAVAX, INC.
 

Pursuant to Section 242
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware

 
Novavax, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of

the State of Delaware, does hereby certify as follows:
 
1. That the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation is hereby amended by striking out the first

sentence of Article FOURTH thereof and substituting therefor the following sentence:
 

“The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue
is (i) fifty million (50,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $.01 par value per share (“Common Stock”),
and (ii) two million (2,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $.01 par value per share (“Preferred
Stock”), which may be issued from time to time in one or more series as set forth in Part B of this
Article FOURTH.”
 

2. That said amendment has been duly proposed and declared advisable by the Board of Directors of the Corporation and
duly adopted by the holders of a majority of the outstanding stock of each class of stock of the Corporation, all in accordance with the
provisions of Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

 
The undersigned President of the Corporation hereby makes this certificate, declaring and certifying that the facts stated

herein are true, and accordingly has hereunto set his hand this 18th day of December, 2000.
 

NOVAVAX, INC.
 

ATTEST:
 

By:   /s/ JOHN A. SPEARS
         John A. Spears,

President
 
 

/s/ DAVID A. WHITE
David A. White, Secretary
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT

OF
AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF NOVAVAX, INC.
 

(Pursuant to Section 242
of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware)

 
Novavax, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of

the State of Delaware, does hereby certify as follows:
 
1. That at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation, resolutions were adopted recommending an amendment of

the Corporation’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, declaring said amendment to be advisable and directing that
such amendment be considered at the next annual meeting of the stockholders of the Corporation. The text of the proposed
amendment is as follows:

 
Article FOURTH of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation shall be
amended by striking out the first sentence thereof and substituting therefor the following sentence:
“The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue
is (i) one hundred million (100,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $.01 par value per share
(“Common Stock”), and (ii) two million (2,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $.01 par value per
share (“Preferred Stock”), which may be issued from time to time in one or more series as set forth in
Part B of this Article FOURTH.”
 

2. That said amendment, having been duly proposed and declared advisable by the Board of Directors of the Corporation,
was considered by the stockholders of the Corporation at the annual meeting of stockholders, duly called and held upon notice in
accordance with Section 222 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

 
3. That said amendment was duly adopted, by the holders of a majority of the outstanding stock of each class of stock of the

Corporation entitled to vote thereon, in accordance with the provisions of Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of
Delaware.
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The undersigned President of the Corporation hereby makes this certificate, declaring and certifying that the facts stated
herein are true, and accordingly has hereunto set his hand this 8th day of July, 2004.

 
NOVAVAX, INC.

 
By: /s/ Nelson M. Sims
Nelson M. Sims, President

 
 
Attest:
 
/s/ David A. White
David A. White, Secretary
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF THE

AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF

NOVAVAX, INC.
 

(Pursuant to Section 242 of the
General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware)

 
Novavax, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the General Corporation Law of the

State of Delaware, hereby files this Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Corporation and hereby certifies as follows:

 
A. At a meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation on March 30, 2009, resolutions were duly adopted in accordance

with Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware setting forth a proposed amendment to the Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, declaring said amendment to be advisable and calling a meeting of the
stockholders of the Corporation for consideration thereof. The resolution setting forth the proposed amendment is as follows:

 
RESOLVED, that Article FOURTH of the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation be amended

by striking out the first sentence thereof and substituting the following sentence:
 
“The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is (i) two hundred million

(200,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $.01 par value per share (“Common Stock”) and (ii) two million (2,000,000) shares of
Preferred Stock, $.01 par value per share (“Preferred Stock”), which may be issued from time to time in one or more series as set
forth in Part B of this Article FOURTH.”

 
B. The stockholders of the Corporation duly approved the proposed amendment at an annual meeting of the stockholders of

the Corporation in accordance with the provisions of Section 242(b) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Certificate of Amendment to be duly executed this 13 day of May,

2009.
 

NOVAVAX, INC.
 

By: /s/ Rahul Singhvi
Name: Rahul Singhvi
Title: President and CEO
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CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF THE CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF
NOVAVAX, INC.

 
June 13, 2013

 
Novavax, Inc. (the “Corporation”), a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation

Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:
 
FIRST: That, by unanimous written consent dated April 11, 2013, the board of directors of the Corporation duly adopted a

resolution in accordance with Section 141 of the DGCL setting forth a proposed amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate
of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended (the “Certificate”), declaring said amendment to be advisable and calling for the
amendment to be submitted to the stockholders of the Corporation for consideration at the next annual meeting of stockholders of the
Corporation. The resolution setting forth the proposed amendment is as follows:

 
RESOLVED: That Article Four of the Charter therefore be amended by deleting the first sentence thereof and replacing it

with the following:
 

“The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is (i) three
hundred million (300,000,000) shares of Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Common Stock”) and (ii)
two million (2,000,000) shares of Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Preferred Stock”), which may be
issued from time to time in one or more series as set forth in Part B of this Article FOURTH.”

 
SECOND: That the remaining provisions of the Certificate, including without limitation the provisions of ARTICLE FOURTH of

the Certificate not affected by the aforementioned amendment, shall remain in full force and not be affected by this Certificate of
Amendment.

 
THIRD: That at the annual meeting of the stockholders, duly called and held upon notice in accordance with Section 222 of

the DGCL and in accordance with the Certificate, the necessary number of shares as required by statute were voted in favor of the
amendment.

 
FOURTH: That the aforesaid amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provisions of Section 242 of the DGCL.
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused this Certificate to be executed as of the date first set forth above.
 

NOVAVAX, INC.
 

By: /s/ Stanley C.
Erck          

          Stanley C. Erck
          President and CEO
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Exhibit 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

 
I, Stanley C. Erck, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Novavax, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:
 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluations; and

 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
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b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

  
August 8, 2013 By: /s/ Stanley C. Erck  
 

 
President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Exhibit 31.2

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER

 
I, Barclay A. Phillips, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Novavax, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and we have:
 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluations; and
 
d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and
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b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
 
August 8, 2013 By: /s/ Barclay A. Phillips  
 

 
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial 
Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT
TO 18 UNITED STATES C. §1350

(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Novavax, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal period ended June 30,
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stanley C. Erck, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge, that:

 
1)                   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and
 
2)                   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company for the dates and periods covered by this Report.
 
 

August 8, 2013 By:  /s/ Stanley C. Erck
 President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 UNITED STATES C. §1350
(SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002)

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Novavax, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the fiscal period ended June 30,

2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Barclay A. Phillips, Senior Vice
President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the best of my knowledge, that:

 
1)                   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended; and
 
2)                   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company for the dates and periods covered by this Report. 
 
 

August 8, 2013 By:  /s/ Barclay A. Phillips
 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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